
 

 
June 1, 2020 

 
 The Washington County Board of Commissioners met in regular meeting on Monday, 
June 1, 2020 at 6:09 PM by using ZOOM—virtual meeting software (due to the COVID-19 
pandemic) for Facebook Live Streaming and in person. Commissioners Johnson, Phelps, Sexton 
Riddick and Walker were present.  Also present were County Manager/County Attorney Curtis 
Potter, Clerk to the Board Julie J. Bennett and Finance Officer Missy Dixon. 
 

 Chair Phelps called the meeting to order. Commissioner Sexton gave the invocation; 
County Manager Potter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  Chair Phelps then called for a moment of 
silence for COVID-19 victims. 
 
 ADDITIONS/DELETIONS:  Ms. Bennett noted that Dr. Sorto was unable to be here 
tonight so Item #6 Update on Washington Regional Medical Center (WRMC) would need to be 
deleted. 
 
 CONSENT AGENDA:  Commissioner Riddick made a motion to approve the 
Consent Agenda: 
 

Items listed under Consent are generally of a routine nature.  The Board may take action to 
approve/disapprove all items in a single vote.  Any item may be withheld from a general action, 
to be discussed and voted upon separately at the discretion of the Board. 
 
a) Approval of Minutes 
b) Tax Refunds & Releases and Insolvent Accounts  
c) ABC Board Budget Amendment for 2019-2020 and an ABC Board Proposed Budget for 

2020-2021 
d) Appointment of JCPC Members  

 
Commissioner Sexton seconded.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC FORUM:  Ms. Bennett stated that no one called to be put on the list to speak 

during tonight’s Public Forum and no one was here in person.  
 
EMPLOYEE OF THE QUARTER:  Chair Phelps stated that Mr. Bobby Dixon, 

Maintenance Worker I, of Facilities Services, is the Employee of the Quarter. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: WASHINGTON COUNTY RECOMMENDED BUDGET FOR 

FY20-21:   
 
Commissioner Riddick made a motion to open the public hearing on the 

Washington County Recommended Budget for FY20-21.  Commissioner Walker seconded, 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
Ms. Zina Rhodes, 4 Tipton Drive, Greenville spoke to the Board regarding the DSS 

budget.  She heard that only 6 reclassifications of positions were in the budget.  She spoke on 
behalf of her Riverlight Transit vehicle operators saying that Martin County pays theirs $22,474 
as a grade 57 and Washington County pays $19,714 at a grade 53 for our vehicle operators. Ms. 



 

Rhodes stated it was difficult to hire someone for the last open position. She found out that there 
were people who retired 20 years ago at $19,000 and Washington County is starting at that rate. 
She feels their salaries need to be looked at again. 

 
Chair Phelps asked Ms. Rhodes how many vehicle operators she has. Ms. Rhodes stated 

she had five (5). 
 
Mr. Keron Bass, DSS, PO Box 10 Windsor, to the Board he was abdicating for an 

increase of pay.  He said he knows the Board is in the process of going over the budget. He said 
social workers face many different adversities in their line of work. They are the main workers 
on the front line during COVID-19.  They have continued going into homes and hospitals. Some 
sort of increase in pay would go a long way in the morale of the DSS employees. 

 
Chair Phelps asked do we have the comparison pay for surrounding counties.  Mr. Potter 

said that is part of the report he is working on regarding comparison of pay tables with the 
surrounding counties.  DSS has always had a separate pay table. Mr. Potter said he will be 
providing the Board with averages. 

  
Chair Phelps asked if the Board receive this information before the budget is passed.  Mr. 

Potter said he did not feel it would be ready at that time. COVID has taken up the majority of his 
time.  He will try to run the numbers of the positions discussed tonight. 

 
Ms. Kenora Bell, 114 Quail Drive, Plymouth spoke to the Board.  Commissioner Riddick 

asked if Ms. Bell if she brought her comparison documents with her.  She said she passed them 
out in a meeting in January or February.  Mr. Potter said he would look in his office for the 
paperwork.  Ms. Bell said she has been in DSS for 5.5 years. She stated that pay is not 
everything but it would show they are appreciated.  If the Board isn’t giving them a raise, how 
about hazardous pay.  Ms. Bell said she knows other counties that did this and feels that 
Washington County DSS employees deserve it.  

 
Commissioner Sexton looked in his budget book and didn’t see Ms. Bell’s name.  She 

explained she got married and her name changed (5 years ago.) Ms. Dixon said she needs to 
bring her info to Personnel.  Ms. Bell said she did.  Chair Phelps asked that that change be made 
this week. 
 

Commissioner Riddick made a motion to close the public hearing on the 
Washington County Recommended Budget for FY20-21.  Commissioner Walker seconded, 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: AMENDMENT TO ZONING ORDINANCE REGARDING 

FLOOD MAPS:   
 
Commissioner Johnson made a motion to open the public hearing on the 

Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance Regarding Flood Maps.  Commissioner Riddick 
seconded, motion passed unanimously. 
 

Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA spoke to the Board.  Mr. Potter said that the info in red is the 
new info to be put in the ordinance.  



 

 



 

 



 

 
 
 
Chair Phelps asked if anyone was here to speak during this public hearing.  Ms. Bennett 

said that there was no one here to speak during the public hearing. 
  
Commissioner Sexton asked why the County has to do this.  Mr. Potter said if the County 

doesn’t do this, then we don’t get flood insurance 
 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner 
Walker seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion approve the amendment to the Zoning 
Ordinance regarding Flood Maps. Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried 
unanimously. 
 

 
BOARD OF EQUALIZATION AND REVIEW:  

 
Commissioner Johnson made a motion to convene as the Board of Equalization and 

Review. Commissioner Walker seconded, motion carried unanimously. 



 

 

On behalf of Ms. Sherri Wilkins, Tax Administrator, Chair Phelps said that 
according to Ms. Wilkins, there were no appeals as of today. 

 
Commissioner Johnson made a motion to adjourn the Board of 

Equalization & Review.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
Chair Phelps called for a brief recess from 6:40 PM - 6:53 PM to make 

video adjustments so the public could hear better.  Chair Phelps summarized the 
meeting thus far for the public who had issues hearing what was previously 
discussed. 

 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS/APPOINT ALTERNATE(S):   Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA 

spoke to the Board.  There is an opportunity to place two alternates on the Board of Adjustments 
(BoA).  There could easily be a conflict of interest with the BoA being the Commissioners.  Mr. 
Potter asked that the current Chair of the Planning Board, Mr. David Clifton, and former EM 
Manager Ann Keyes be appointed as the alternates.  Chair Phelps asked if Ms. Keyes becomes a 
Commissioner would they have to re-appoint someone else.  

 
Commissioner Sexton made a appoint Mr. David Clifton and Ms. Ann Keyes as 

alternates on the Board of Adjustments. Commissioner Walker seconded, motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
COVID-19 UPDATE:   Mr. Curtis Potter, County Manager/County Attorney, Mr. Wes 

Gray, MTW Health Department Director, and Mr. Lance Swindell, Emergency Management 
Coordinator gave the Board the latest information on COVID-19. 

 
Mr. Potter said there is a lot of information changing quickly.  Executive Order 124 had 

previously been set to suspend on June 1 but has been extended. This deals with the waterworks 
ordinances. 

 
Mr. Potter said he had an interesting phone call with Domtar regarding their upcoming 

summer shutdown and influx of contractors coming in.  They have put in a lot of work on this.  
 
Mr. Potter spoke about the eventual reopening of the Courthouse.  Any services that can 

be brought out to the residents in the parking lot are being done. The court system has been 
issuing a lot of information on how they want to conduct court business such as having limited 
number of cases and two shifts a day.  Also, the entrance to the courthouse is to be logged by 
security.  Mr. Potter said he is waiting on getting “no contact” thermometers for them to use.  
Mr. Potter said Security asked for their contracts to have a 3% increase.  Mr. Potter said they 
haven’t had an increase in the 4 years they have been here and didn’t feel this was unwarranted. 
Once the courthouse is opened more, we will be using distancing as much as we can. 

 
Commissioner Johnson asked where the money for raising the security guards comes 

from. 
 
Chair Phelps asked if the 3% would be passed down to the employees or to the owner of 

the business.  Mr. Potter said he was informed it would be passed down to the employees. 



 

Chair Phelps doesn’t understand why our Courthouse can’t be fully opened.  He stated 
that surrounding county courthouses are now open. Chair Phelps said he was in court all day.  
Mr. Potter said Washington County’s Courthouse has a detention floor. Chair Phelps said then 
just don’t let folks go to the 3rd floor.  Mr. Potter said he didn’t feel the Courthouse employees 
were ready to accommodate the public.  Security also needs to be able to take temperatures. Mr. 
Potter said he has left this decision to the Clerk of Court.  Mr. Potter said he suggested 
Washington County’s Courthouse open on June 15th.  Chair Phelps said there are 25 defendants 
scheduled to go through the Courthouse for each shift.   

 
Commissioner Sexton said he feels the County needs to start opening things up.  Chair 

Phelps said that is two Commissioners who feel that way. 
 
Commissioner Johnson asked is 25 the number mandated by the Governor at an outing. 
 
Chair Phelps said most departments have the glass partitions in their departments. 
 
Commissioner Riddick said she has mixed feelings.  Folks are going to grocery stores 

and other places.  She said as long as their temperature is taken, they should be allowed in the 
Courthouse and they should be required to wear a mask.  

 
Mr. Potter said he doesn’t know if he can require everyone to wear a mask. 
 
Commissioner Walker said as long as folks wear a mask and keep the social distance he 

doesn’t see why the Courthouse can’t be opened. 
  
Commissioner Riddick said she was talking about the public wearing masks when they 

come in the Courthouse.   
 
Discussion ensued.  Commissioner Johnson would like the information on whether or not 

we can force folks to wear masks before she makes a decision. 
 
Mr. Gray said he and Judge Parker went through the Courthouse to figure out the court 

system flow. Washington County’s Courthouse is unique because we have a Detention floor. Mr. 
Potter said his concern is the use of the elevator.   

 
Mr. Potter said it’s the Board’s decision, but he does not feel it is safe at this point to 

open the Courthouse. 
 
Chair Phelps asked why not?  Mr. Potter said there hasn’t been an opportunity to discuss 

any of this with the employees or to implement safety procedures for the whole Courthouse to be 
able to open tomorrow.  Two primary concerns is safety of staff and the detained population. 

  
Commissioner Johnson said she would like to see how things go tomorrow with the 

groups of 25 coming in in the two shifts.  
 
Mr. Potter said the Clerk of Court said he picked the June 15 date because there was a 

slow court calendar. 



 

Commissioner Sexton said he has mentioned to Mr. Potter that some of the admin offices 
that aren’t tied to the jail or court system should be moved from the Courthouse and only have 
court related offices in the Courthouse.  

 
Chair Phelps said the Board will wait until June 15 and revisit this issue. 
 



 



 

  
Mr. Gray did say a lot more testing is starting to take place.  MTW can test anyone now. 

There are testing events in June.  He also mentioned there are different rules for private labs vs 
state labs. The potential is there for there still to be a peak time.  Wear masks and continue social 
distancing. 

 
Chair Phelps asked if DSS is open.  Mr. Potter said no.  Chair Phelps asked if Planning & 

Safety is open.  Mr. Potter said folks can only step just inside the door.  Chair Phelps asked if the 
Senior Center was open.  Mr. Potter said no.  Chair Phelps asked if Elections was open.  Mr. 
Potter said no.  Chair Phelps asked if Cooperative Extension is open.  Mr. Potter said no.  Chair 
Phelps asked if MTW is open.  Mr. Potter said some of it is, but it’s very limited.  Chair Phelps 
asked if the library is open.  Mr. Potter said he could not confirm that.  Chair Phelps asked if the 
Landfill is open.  Mr. Potter said yes.  Chair Phelps asked if Water is open.  Mr. Potter said yes.  
Chair Phelps asked if Veteran Services is open.  Mr. Potter said he was not sure 

 
Mr. Potter said the County has received our CFR money. The deadline for the spending 

plan was extended to June 15.  Mr. Potter said he is talking with Town of Plymouth and Roper 
and sent info to Creswell but haven’t reached anyone there.  MTW asked for $65,000. Mr. Potter 
said he has talked to WCS–we might be able to put some money back in their budget with 
COVID-19 funds.  Commissioner Johnson suggested that we look at accessing hotspots of 
broadband around the County.  Mr. Potter said he has Ms. Rouse is working on that.  

   
Commissioner Johnson asked Mr. Gray if MTW has hired someone to do the contact 

tracing cost.  He said yes, he has to move staff around but money is running out.  
 



 

CENSUS 2020 UPDATE:  Mr. Harry White, GIS/Mapping Director, spoke to the Board 
and stated he is the Census Coordinator for Washington County.  Mr. White said he has talked to 
our Regional Coordinator.  The complete count deadline has been extended to October 31, 2020.  
Packages have been delivered to homes that have P.O. boxes. Forms can still be filled out on 
line. Residents can call 1-844-330-2020 if they have questions. 

 Washington County is ranked #71 in the State with 46% completed. 
 Washington County is ranked #6 out of 15 regional counties with 46% completed. 
 Plymouth has 70% completed. 
 Roper has 8% completed. 
 Creswell has 20.5% completed. 

 
CITIZEN’S ACADEMY UPDATE:  Ms. Allysa Rouse, Management Fellow, spoke to 

the Board. She will start advertising in June. Chair Phelps asked why it takes four months to 
advertise. 

 
Chair Phelps asked for a schedule of the timeline.  Ms. Rouse said she will send it to the 

Commissioners tomorrow. 
 
Chair Phelps asked when they would graduate. Ms. Rouse said at the end of the 6 week—

which would be the end of November.  
 
Chair Phelps asked her to come back in August with an update. 

 
AGAPE UPDATE:  Mr. Potter said he had Ms. Allysa Rouse, Management Fellow, 

following up with Dr. McDuffie.  This was presented to the Board a few months ago with a 
rendering of a Phase I facility here in Plymouth with a Phase II & III to follow.  When the 
County heard of Agape needing more funding, we found out they expected the county and/or 
town to provide the funding for Phase II and/or III.  At the time it was presented it looked like 
Agape needed a 5% match of the $400,000 meaning $25,000.  It was thought to split the cost 
however, things started to change. It became clear that the County would have to apply for the 
grant and monitor the grant and be responsible for it. Mr. Potter said he doesn’t believe the Town 
of Plymouth has taken this any further by talking to the Interim Town Manager.  Dr. McDuffie 
said he would look for alternative financing.  Mr. Potter said he told Mr. McDuffie on Friday that 
he didn’t think the County could take on the facilitation and obtaining of the grant –it’s much 
more involved that originally presented. 

 
Chair Phelps said if Dr. McDuffie requests to come before the Board with the proper 

information so that the Board can make a decision, put him on the agenda, but don’t schedule 
any more updates. 
 

FUEL FARM PROJECT WITH WASHINGTON COUNTY SCHOOLS:  Mr. Curtis 
Potter, CM/CA spoke to the Board.  Mr. Potter stated he had started working on this with former 
WCS Supt. Ms. Mann.   



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 
Mr. Potter recommended that the Board approve execution of a budget transfer up to 

$12,000 in this current year to get this project going.  The County would break even by using this 
fuel farm. 

 
Commissioner Sexton asked where this fuel farm would be located. Mr. Potter said it 

would be at WCS transportation facility on Hwy 64 and it would be available 24/7. 



 

Commissioner Riddick made a motion to recuse Commissioner Walker from voting 
on this issue since he is the Interim Superintendent of WCS.  Commissioner Sexton 
seconded.  Motion carried 4-0. 

 
Commissioner Riddick made a motion to approve the execution of a budget transfer 

from the general fund of $12,000 to the WCS Fuel Farm.  Commissioner Johnson 
seconded.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 

WASHINGTON COUNTY REVISED & RESTATED WATERWORKS RULES & 
REGULATIONS ORDINANCE:  Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA, spoke to the Board. 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 
Commissioner BS made a motion to approve and adopt the attached Washington 

County Waterworks Rules & Regulations Ordinance Revised & Restated February 3rd, 
2020 as presented.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

BUDGET WORK SESSION SCHEDULE AND BUDGET DISCUSSIONS:  Chair 
Phelps and Mr. Potter, CM/CA spoke to the Board. 

 
Chair Phelps said in years past, the Board has held budget workshops with all the 

Commissioners present.  Chair Phelps said he knows that Commissioners Johnson and Sexton 
have met individually with Mr. Potter, but it takes three Commissioners to make any changes in 
the proposed budget.  Chair Phelps told the Board he would like to choose dates for a budget 
work session.  The consensus of the Board was to meet on June 11 at 6:00 PM.  Chair Phelps 
said he would like the Commissioners to be prepared to talk about the departments under tabs 1-
26 of the Recommended Budget.  Chair Phelps asked the Commissioners to look at the 
Department Head’s requests.  Come to the work session with questions.  Mr. Potter said he will 
try to have the compensation study completed. Chair Phelps said the Commissioners will meet in 
person in the Commissioners and have the work session live streamed on Facebook through 
ZOOM.  
  

Mr. Potter said he is trying to complete a capital improvement plan while the 
Commissioners are considering the budget. 
 



 

FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT, BUDGET AMENDMENTS/TRANSFERS:   Ms. 
Dixon went over the budget transfers and budget amendments and her report that was in the 
Commissioners’ package.  

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Budget Amendment/Budget 

Transfers as presented above.  Commissioner Riddick seconded; motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
Ms. Dixon said she is watching the sales tax and it may not be as bad as originally 

thought.  There may not be a drastic downturn. 



 

OTHER ITEMS BY CHAIRMAN, COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY MANAGER 
/ATTORNEY, CLERK OR FINANCE OFFICER: 

 
Commissioner Walker said he noticed that it was mentioned tonight about “hazardous 

pay”.  Mr. Potter said the guidance for the CARES Act says the Board can pay hazardous pay to 
anyone they want to but the County may not get reimbursed for it.  Mr. Potter said he has asked 
for a better explanation from the state. Mr. Potter said if the Board wants him to look into he can. 
The Board said to look into it.  Commissioner Johnson said that another guideline that came out 
regarding workman’s comp.  Mr. Potter said he disagrees about the hazardous pay.  Deciding 
who gets it is opening up a can of worms.  

 
Commissioner Sexton asked could any of the CARES Act funds be used to help the 

hospital.  Mr. Potter said he would not recommend that.  Commissioner Sexton asked about 
helping EMS.  Mr. Potter said possibly so.  

 
Mr. Potter said that Kevin Leonard, Executive Director of the NCACC, did ask that 

counties not use these funds for salaries. 
 
Commissioner Johnson said that Mr. Jerry Jennings of DOT is retiring.  DOT is going 

through a lot.  There will be furloughs. There are no projects on the books right now for 
Washington County but Commissioner Johnson is still after them about fixing Newland Road.  
She said DOT needs to recoup $7M.  Chair Phelps said he remembers when the Board sent a 
resolution to DOT on Newland Road.  He mentioned that the Board has done that twice but roads 
in Washington County still seem to fall off their list.  Ms. Bennett mentioned that she had been 
contacted by DOT and they are scheduled to be at the Board’s August meeting.  The Clerk was 
asked to confirm this.   

 
The Board agreed on having the following two meetings: 
June 11 @ 6:00 PM to go over the Departments in the Recommended Budget under tabs 

1 -26 in the Budget Book  
June 17 @ 6:30 PM in the Courtroom for the Quasi-Judicial hearing regarding the 

Albemarle Solar Project.  
 
Chair Phelps thanked Ms. O’Neal, Ms. Adams, Ms. Bennett and Mr. Potter for setting up 

the meeting room tonight (even though we had technology issues). 
 
Mr. Potter mentioned that Hyper-Reach is a system the County uses to be able to contact 

the citizen in case of an emergency.  If any citizen would like to be on this contact list, please 
call 252-484-3277 to add your phone number (either house or cell or both) or by texting “alerts” 
to 252-484-3277.  

 
Mr. Potter said he is working with Finance and Water to revive some language on the 

County’s water bill.  Ms. Dixon said the bills are ordered in packs of 30,000 and we have used 
up our current allotment and need to make changes on them before ordering new ones. 

 
Mr. Potter said the COVID Cares money might be able to be used for aviation.  Chair 

Phelps asked if it could be used for part of the local match the County has to pay. Mr. Potter said 
he is checking into it. 

 



 

Chair Phelps thanked the public who tuned in to see the meeting on ZOOM/Facebook. 
 
Commissioner Sexton made a motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to NCGS 

§143-318.11(a)(3) (attorney-client privilege) and NCGS §143-318.11(a)(6) (personnel).  
Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously.  

 
At 9:30 with no further business to discuss, Commissioner Riddick made a motion to 

recess to June 11, 2020 @ 6:00 PM in the Commissioners’ Room and on ZOOM 
(Livestreaming to Facebook).  Commissioner Walker seconded.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 

          D. Cole Phelps Julie J. Bennett, CMC, NCMCC 
           Chair                  Clerk to the Board   
 


